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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholder,

I am pleased to present to you the Annual Report and the Audited Financial Statements of IPRO Growth Fund Ltd 
(“IGF” or “the Fund”) for the year ended 30 June 2017.

After a challenging financial year 2015/2016 marked by uncertainties for the Mauritian economy, a widely 
negative performance in the broader African region and a major slump in various commodity markets, financial 
year 2016/2017 has generated much more positive results for shareholders.

Indeed, your Fund achieved a total return of 15.5% during financial year 2016/2017, which includes a dividend 
of Rs. 0.68 per share paid in June 2017.

The favourable economic indicators highlighted last year, particularly the rebound in the tourism industry and 
the robust financial services sector, continued to affect the Mauritian economy positively during the financial 
year under review. As per Statistics Mauritius, real economic growth for calendar year 2017 is now expected to 
come in at 3.7%. The global context of a marked improvement in economic conditions, particularly in Europe and 
China, should provide further tailwinds for the open Mauritian economy.

As financial markets reflect the future and not the past, it is important to note that the implementation of various 
projects in the private and public sectors in Mauritius is expected to gain traction during calendar year 2018. 
An increase in investment as a share of GDP should spill over into a stronger growth momentum. As the Fund 
is still holding over 61% of net assets in local investments, shareholders should continue to benefit from the 
Fund’s exposure to companies that have their main business activities in Mauritius.

That said, the opportunity set for companies listed on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (“SEM”) remains small, 
as IPOs of promising local businesses have become rare in recent years. The restructuring currently carried 
out by local conglomerates might offer new opportunities but, as of now, we do not see any evidence of new 
significant listings on the SEM, whether spin-offs in the private sector or privatisations in the public sector. 
Hence, we will continue to screen international markets for promising investment opportunities during financial 
year 2017/2018. However, we will need to tread with caution for new investments abroad as the global bull 
market in equities that started in March 2009 is now in its 9th year, one of the longest streaks in history.

As a final note, I would like to thank the fund manager, the fund administrator and my fellow directors for the 
excellent results achieved during financial year 2016/2017.

Marc-Emmanuel Vives
Chairman

29 September 2017
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors have pleasure in submitting the audited financial statements of IPRO Growth Fund Ltd (the “Fund”) 
for the year ended 30 June 2017.

The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is set out on page 37.

The Fund, is registered as a Reporting Issuer with the Financial Services Commission (“FSC”) since the 
promulgation of the Securities Act 2005. On 21 January 2013, IGF was authorised by the FSC to operate as a 
Collective Investment Scheme under Section 97 of the Securities Act 2005. 
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CERTIFICATE FROM THE COMPANY SECRETARY 

We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Fund has filed with the Registrar of Companies, 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017, all such returns as are required of the Fund under the Companies 
Act 2001.

CIEL Corporate Services Ltd
Company Secretary

29 September 2017

Under section 166(d) of the Companies Act 2001
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

Name of Public Interest Entity (“PIE”): IPRO Growth Fund Ltd

Reporting Period: 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017

We, the directors of IPRO Growth Fund Ltd (“the PIE or the Fund”), confirm to the best of our knowledge, that 
the PIE has complied with all of its obligations and requirements under the Code of Corporate Governance 
except with sections 2.2.3, 2.10, 5.3, 7 and 8.3.2.

Reasons for non-compliance are :

SECTION NOT COMPLIED WITH REASONS FOR NON-COMPLIANCE

2.2.3 –  Composition of the 
Board

Notwithstanding the fact that only one executive director has been appointed 
on the Board of Directors, the Board considers that its current size and 
composition are appropriate for the type of activity in which the Fund is 
engaged and for the effective discharge of the Board’s responsibilities.

2.10 –  Board and Director 
Appraisal

No Board appraisals have been conducted for the year under review since 
the Board considers that its composition is stable, adequate and efficient 
in monitoring the affairs of the Fund and for the effective execution of its 
responsibilities. The Board is however considering the implementation of a 
formal evaluation process in light of the application of the National Code of 
Corporate Governance for Mauritius (2016) which will take effect as from 
the financial year ending 30 June 2018.

5.3 – Internal Audit No internal audit function has been established within the Fund since 
external auditors already report to the Audit Committee on the effective 
functioning of internal controls, processes and systems. A management 
letter is requested on a yearly basis from the auditors whereby deficiencies 
in internal controls are highlighted and recommendations to rectify these 
are proposed. Internal audits are also performed at the level of the service 
providers on a regular basis and its findings are communicated to the Audit 
Committee where relevant. 

7 –  Integrated Sustainability 
Reporting

The Fund has not devised any safety, health, environmental and social policies 
due to the nature of its activity. The Board is also of the opinion that a code of 
ethics is not required for the Company since it does not have any employees.

8.3.2 – Board Charter So far, the Board considered that its duties, responsibilities, proceedings 
and decision-making process were sufficiently provided under the Fund’s 
Constitution. The Board is however considering the adoption of a board 
charter in line with the recommendation of the National Code of Corporate 
Governance for Mauritius (2016) which will take effect as from the financial 
year ending 30 June 2018.  

Marc-Emmanuel Vives  Stéphane Henry
Chairperson  Director

29 September 2017

(Section 75 (3) of the Financial Reporting Act)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 
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IPRO Growth Fund Ltd (“IGF” or “the Fund” or “the Company”) is pleased to present its Annual Report for the 
year ended 30 June 2017. 

The Fund was incorporated on 10 August 1992 and is listed, but not traded, on the Official List of the Stock 
Exchange of Mauritius Ltd since December 2000.

IGF is registered as a Reporting Issuer with the Financial Services Commission (“FSC”) since the promulgation 
of the Securities Act 2005 and has been licensed by the FSC as from 21 January 2013 to operate as a Collective 
Investment Scheme (“CIS”) under Section 97 of the Securities Act 2005.

The Fund raises money from investors and invests across a diversified portfolio of local and foreign financial 
instruments, comprising inter alia of equities, fixed income securities, collective investment schemes, property 
securities and specialised investment products. Its investment strategy is geared towards achieving long term 
capital appreciation for its investors and generating cash returns on investments through dividend payments. 

IGF’s investment activities are conducted mainly through the following service providers:
• IPRO Fund Management Ltd, appointed as CIS manager;
• MITCO Fund Services Ltd, appointed as CIS administrator, registrar and transfer agent;
• Investment Professionals Ltd, appointed as distributor; and
• The Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd, appointed as custodian.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Fund considers corporate governance as a fundamental concept which facilitates the achievement of its 
objectives which consist of maximising shareholder value and protecting its investors’ and stakeholders’ rights 
and interests. The Fund also recognises that it has a fiduciary duty towards its investors and therefore ensures that 
the shareholders’ funds are invested into companies with a strong track record in terms of corporate governance.  

The Board acknowledges its accountability to IGF’s shareholders and other stakeholders for maintaining a sound 
governance framework which enables the Fund to carry out its activities in an effective and efficient manner, 
within pre-defined risk parameters.  

The Board remains committed to applying the highest standards of corporate governance and confirms that the 
Fund has complied with the principles set out in the Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”) in all material 
aspects except for the areas of non-compliance disclosed in the Statement of Compliance and where relevant 
explanations and alternative practices have been provided.

CONSTITUTION
The Constitution adopted by the Fund on 22 June 2016 is in line with the Companies Act 2001, the Listing Rules 
of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius, The Securities Act 2005 and The Securities (Collective Investment Schemes 
and Closed-end Funds) Regulations 2008.  There are no clauses in the Constitution which are deemed material 
for disclosure.

A copy of the Company’s Constitution is available for consultation on request at its registered office situated at 
5th Floor, Ebene Skies, Rue de l’Institut, Ebène.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

LEADERSHIP

Corporate Governance Framework
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Role of the Board 
The Board of Directors of IGF (“the Board”) is collectively accountable to the shareholders for the delivery of a 
sustainable performance and has the responsibility of formulating the Fund’s strategic direction and investment 
policies within a context of effective risk management. The Board also fulfils a leadership role by overseeing its 
delegated functions to ensure that objectives are being met through the implementation of adequate policies 
and processes that lead to value-creation. 

Furthermore, the Board seeks to align IGF’s long-term interests with those of its investors and stakeholders by 
acting as custodian of the Fund’s corporate governance framework. 

Board Structure
The composition of the Board is currently made up of 8 directors, split between 1 Executive Director, 3 
Non-Executive directors and 4 Independent Non-Executive directors. Gender diversity has been given due 
consideration in the Board’s composition with one female director serving as Non-Executive Director. All directors 
reside in Mauritius. 

Due to the nature of its activity, IGF is committed to maintaining a strong presence of Independent Non-
Executive directors on its Board of Directors as evidenced by a 50% representation. All Independent and Non-
Executive directors possess wide-ranging skills, experience and expertise originating from various industries 
which contribute to an active and engaged participation in Board discussions and decision-making process. 
The Fund has not deemed it necessary to appoint additional executives on the Board since the sole Executive 
Director represents both the investment manager and distributor and is thus able to report to the Board on 
these specific areas.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

LEADERSHIP (CONTINUED)

Board Structure (continued)
The Board’s composition is graphically represented as follows:

87%

13%

Male Female

12%

38%
50%

Executive (1) Non-Executive (3)

Board Composition Diversity Ratio

Independent (4)

Board Appointments
Upon recommending a new director for appointment or when considering succession planning matters, the 
Corporate Governance, Nomination and Contracts Committee assesses the skill set of the Board together with 
its balance in terms of composition, knowledge and experience and selects the right candidate based on the 
aforesaid criteria and on individual merits. No new Board appointment was made during the year under review. 

All directors would submit themselves to re-election by the shareholders at the Fund’s forthcoming Annual Meeting.

Chairman
Mr. Marc-Emmanuel Vives, as Chairman of the Board, provides leadership and guidance to his fellow directors 
while ensuring that the Board is, in collective terms, effective in its role as the Company’s main decision-making 
organ. He promotes a culture of engagement with each director by encouraging a proactive participation in 
Board meeting discussions and decision-making process. The Chairman also monitors the discussion time 
which is allocated to each agenda item at Board meetings depending on their relative complexity and engages 
into a constructive dialogue with the investors and other stakeholders on behalf of the Board where necessary.

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary has an advisory role in all governance-related matters concerning the Fund and acts 
as the main point of contact for the directors should they require guidance on their statutory responsibilities. 
The principal functions of the Company Secretary include supplying the Board and committees with high-
quality and timely information, collaborating with the Board and Committee Chairmen in the preparation of 
agendas, coordinating the information flow between Non-Executive and Executive directors and between the 
Board and its Committees, and acting as a facilitator in the directors’ induction process.

CIEL Corporate Services Ltd served as Company Secretary of IGF during the year under review.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

LEADERSHIP (CONTINUED)

Directors’ Profiles and Directorships in Listed Companies
Marc-Emmanuel VIVES (Aged 55)
Non-Executive Chairman

Appointed on: 09 March 2016

Qualifications: Master’s Degree in Business Administration from HEC Business School France, and a degree in 
History from Sorbonne University in Paris.

Committee membership: Corporate Governance, Nomination and Contracts Committee (Chairman)

Skills and experience:
Mr. Vives has been the Chief Executive Officer of CIEL Finance Limited since September 2014, bringing with 
him more than 25 years of experience at Société Générale. After initial steps within the General Inspection of the 
Group, he spent the next 18 years of his career in various assignments in emerging countries, first in Argentina 
as Commercial Director, then as Chairman and CEO of Société Générale Argentina. He moved then to Russia 
as CEO of Société Générale Vostok, before becoming First Deputy Chairman of Rosbank, and finally to India as 
Country Manager. 

Directorship in other listed companies: P.O.L.I.C.Y Limited and IPRO Funds Ltd (IPRO African Market Leaders 
Fund - Class (I2) Institutional Class).

Christine SAUZIER (Aged 51)
Non-Executive Director 

Appointed on: 17 June 2014

Qualifications: Attorney-at-Law, LLB (Hons) from the University of Mauritius and a Licence en droit privé from the 
Faculté des Sciences Juridiques, Université de Rennes, France.

Skills and experience:
Mrs. Sauzier is the Head of Legal of CIEL Group. She advises companies within the CIEL Group on compliance, 
deal structuring and shareholder matters, while also liaising with international and local lawyers in drafting, 
reviewing and negotiating commercial contracts and other legal documents. She has also been instrumental in 
dealings with the regulators like Bank of Mauritius, Financial Services Commission and with the Stock Exchange 
of Mauritius. Mrs. Sauzier has been involved in various Mergers & Acquisitions transactions for the Group with 
exposure to diverse industries like Banking, Hotels, Property, Healthcare, Private Equity, Textile, Agro Business 
and Fiduciary. She has also been involved in cross border deals in various countries notably in Sub-Saharan 
Africa, Indian Ocean and Asia.

Directorship in other listed companies: The Medical and Surgical Centre Ltd and IPRO Funds Ltd (IPRO African 
Market Leaders Fund - Class (I2) Institutional Class).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

LEADERSHIP (CONTINUED)

Directors’ Profiles and Directorships in Listed Companies (continued)
Sébastien DARUTY (Aged 35)
Non-Executive Director

Appointed on: 18 August 2014

Qualifications: Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales.

Committee membership: Audit Committee and Investment Committee

Skills and experience:
Mr. Daruty has over 9 years’ experience in high profile firms in the UK and joined CIEL Corporate Services Ltd 
in March 2014 as Group Financial and Corporate Manager.

Directorship in other listed companies: None

Stéphane HENRY (Aged 50)  
Executive Director

Appointed on: 10 February 2011

Qualifications: Master II Degree in Wealth Management from the University of Clermont-Ferrand, France.

Committee membership: Investment Committee

Skills and experience:
Mr. Henry has more than 20 years of investment management experience, with the last 10 years as group CEO 
of Investment Professionals Ltd (“IPRO”). IPRO has over USD 200 million of assets under its management, 
with offices in Mauritius and Botswana and a focus on listed equity and fixed income investments in Africa.

Directorship in listed companies: P.O.L.I.C.Y Limited and IPRO Funds Ltd (IPRO African Market Leaders Fund - 
Class (I2) Institutional Class). 

James LEUNG YIN KOW (Aged 48) 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed on: 07 November 2012

Qualifications: Master of Arts in Economics from York University (Canada) and CFA Charterholder since 2000

Committee membership: Audit Committee and Investment Committee (Chairman)

Skills and experience:
Mr. Leung was a member of a task team sub-committee for the Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius (2004). 
Mr. Leung has 13 years of experience as Fund Manager and 3 years of experience as Stockbroker.  He is currently 
the Managing Director of Skanda Business Consultants Ltd which provides services to Small & Medium Enterprises. 

Directorship in other listed companies: None
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

LEADERSHIP (CONTINUED)

Directors’ Profiles and Directorships in Listed Companies (continued)
E. Jean MAMET (Aged 74)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed on: 13 November 2001

Qualifications:  Certified Accountant.

Committee membership: Corporate Governance, Nomination and Contracts Committee

Skills and experience:
Mr. Mamet was an audit partner for several years with Messrs De Chazal du Mée & Co, Chartered Accountants, 
and from 1992 to 2003 he was the Managing Partner of Ernst & Young. He was also the Vice Chairman of 
The Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd from 2004 to 2013.

Directorship in other listed companies: The United Basalt Products Ltd

Imrith RAMTOHUL (Aged 42)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed on: 12 February 2013

Qualifications: Fellow Member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants UK (“ACCA”) and CFA 
Charterholder.

Committee membership: Audit Committee (Chairman) and Investment Committee 

Skills and experience:
Mr. Ramtohul has over 17 years of experience in the financial services sector and is currently Senior Investment 
Consultant at Aon Hewitt Ltd (Mauritius). He is also a Member of the CFA Institute Global Investment Performance 
Standards (GIPS) Asset Owners Sub-committee.

Directorship in other listed companies: Innodis Ltd 

Antoine SEEYAVE (Aged 70)
Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed on: 13 January 2004

Qualifications: Sloan Fellow of the London Business School since 1981.

Committee membership: Corporate Governance, Nomination and Contracts Committee

Skills and experience:
Mr. Seeyave is currently the Chairman of Happy World Ltd, a company engaged in activities related to commercial 
property, shipping and office machinery.

Directorship in other listed companies: Caudan Development Ltd
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

LEADERSHIP (CONTINUED)

Common directors within the Holding Structure
There are no common directors within the Fund’s holding structure. 

2017 Board Programme
The principal areas of focus covered by the Board at its meetings during the year under review were as follows:

STRATEGY • Reviewed the updated marketing and sales strategy for the Fund.

GOVERNANCE
• Received reports from the Chairmen of Board Committees; and
• Set the date of the Fund’s Annual Meeting.

PERFORMANCE

• Analysed the performance of the Fund on a quarterly basis;
• Approved the annual and interim management reports;
•  Approved the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2016 and interim 

financial statements as at 30 September 2016, 31 December 2016 and  
31 March 2017 for publication; and

• Approved the declaration of the final dividend.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated specific functions pertaining to audit, risk management, corporate governance and 
investment policies to committees which provide an independent oversight on those key areas and enable 
the Board to discharge its duties effectively. Three committees have been established by the Board, namely 
the Audit Committee, the Investment Committee and the Corporate Governance, Nomination and Contracts 
Committee, which operate within clearly defined terms of reference. The Chairmen of these committees are 
invited to report to the Board on the deliberations of each Committee at the ensuing Board meeting such that 
the Board can be kept abreast of their activities. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

The role and responsibilities of these committees, including the activities performed during the year, are reported 
as follows:

AUDIT 
 COMMITTEE*

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, 
NOMINATION AND  

CONTRACTS COMMITTEE

INVESTMENT 
 COMMITTEE

Composition

Imrith Ramtohul  
(Chairman)

James Leung Yin Kow
Sébastien Daruty

Marc-Emmanuel Vives  
(Chairman)

E. Jean Mamet
Antoine Seeyave

James Leung Yin Kow (Chairman)
Stéphane Henry
Imrith Ramtohul

Sébastien Daruty
Philippe Koch**

Role and 
responsibilities

•  Appoint and dismiss the Compliance 
Officer and review the functions and 
terms of the latter;

•  Review significant matters reported 
by the Compliance Officer;

•  Assess the risk areas of the 
Company’s operation to be covered 
by the scope of the compliance 
officer and the external auditor;

•  Review the external auditors’ engage-
ment letter, scope and nature of the 
audit, the nature of non-audit services 
provided by the external auditors and 
points raised in the management letter;

•  Review the audited annual financial 
statements prior to be made public, 
including the review of any changes 
in accounting policies and significant 
audit adjustments; and

•  Monitor the ethical conduct of the 
Company and its service providers.

•  Determine, agree and develop 
the Fund’s general policy 
on corporate governance in 
accordance with the Code  
of Corporate Governance;

•  Advise and make 
recommendations to the Board 
on all aspects of corporate 
governance and new Board 
appointments;

•  Approve the Corporate 
Governance Report; and

•  Review the terms and 
conditions of all service 
agreements between the Fund 
and service providers.

•  Ratify the investments and 
disinvestments of the previous 
quarter;

•  Review the general economic 
trends and forecasts;

•  Set and assess portfolio 
performance targets and 
monitor the performance of 
the portfolio;

•  Determine an appropriate 
investment strategy, including 
the optimum asset allocation; 
and

•  Review and report to the 
Board of Directors all matters 
relating to the administration, 
supervision, tax and 
management of the Fund.

Focus Areas  
in 2017

•  Reviewed and recommended the 
annual and interim management 
reports to the Board for approval;

•  Reviewed and recommended the 
annual report for the year ended 
30 June 2016 and the quarterly 
financial statements to the Board  
for approval;

•  Considered the management letter 
submitted by the external auditors;

•  Examined compliance and money 
laundering/suspicious transactions 
reports;

•  Considered the appointment of a 
Money Laundering Reporting Officer 
for the Fund; and

•  Recommended the amount of final 
dividend to be declared by the Board.

•  Reviewed and recommended, 
by way of circulation, the 
corporate governance report 
for the year ended 30 June 
2016 to the Board for approval.

•  Analysed local and 
international market trends;

•  Reviewed economic data  
and forecasts;

•  Assessed the Fund’s local and 
foreign portfolio performance;

•  Proceeded with a peer group 
comparison;

•  Ratified acquisitions and 
disposals of investments in 
line with the Fund’s strategic 
asset allocation;

•  Reviewed the subscription 
and redemption trend;

•  Considered the investment 
outlook over the long-term; and

•  Reviewed the Fund’s strategic 
asset allocation.

* Details pertaining to the financial experience and expertise of the Audit Committee members are disclosed under the “directors’ profile” section.
**Non-director and representative of the investment manager.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

All Committees confirm that they have discharged their responsibilities in compliance with their respective terms 
of reference. 

BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE

The number of Board and Committee meetings held during the year and the attendance report of such meetings 
are shown hereunder:

MEMBERS BOARD  
MEETING

AUDIT  
COMMITTEE

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE, 
NOMINATION 

AND CONTRACTS 
COMMITTEE

INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE

Number of meetings held 4 4 0 4
Marc-Emmanuel VIVES 4/4 - - -
Christine SAUZIER 3/4 - - -
Sébastien DARUTY 2/4 1/4 - 0/4
Stéphane HENRY 4/4 3/4*** - 4/4
James LEUNG YIN KOW 4/4 4/4 - 4/4
E. Jean MAMET 4/4 - - -
Imrith RAMTOHUL 3/4 4/4 - 4/4
Antoine SEEYAVE 4/4 - - -
Philippe KOCH* 3/4** 4/4*** - 4/4
Attendees
External auditors - 4/4*** - -
CIS Administrator - 4/4*** - -

* Non-director and member of the Investment Committee
** Regular attendee at Board meetings
*** Regular attendee at Audit Committees

DIRECTORS’  INTERESTS AND DEALINGS IN SHARES

As insiders to the Fund, the directors ensure at all times that they adhere to the principles of the Model Code for 
Securities Transactions by directors of Listed Companies (“the Model Code”) as detailed in Appendix 6 of the 
Listing Rules while dealing in the securities of the Fund.

Mechanisms are also in place for directors to notify their interests, whether beneficial or not, and those of their 
associates in the Fund’s shares as prescribed under the Model Code, the Securities Act 2005 and the Companies 
Act 2001. The said information is systematically recorded in a register of directors’ interests which is kept under 
the custody of the Company Secretary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND DEALINGS IN SHARES (CONTINUED)

The interests of the directors in the Fund’s shares as well as dealings made during the year under review were 
as follows:

Directors’ Interests

DIRECTORS
DIRECT INDIRECT

NO. OF SHARES PERCENTAGE NO. OF SHARES PERCENTAGE

Marc-Emmanuel VIVES - - - -

Christine SAUZIER - - - -

Sébastien DARUTY - - - -

Stéphane HENRY - - 5,726 0.03

James LEUNG YIN KOW 830 0.00 - -

E. Jean MAMET 24,135 0.13 3,127 0.02

Imrith RAMTOHUL 2 0.00 - -

Antoine SEEYAVE 196 0.00 - -

Share Dealings

DIRECTORS
DIRECT

NO. OF SHARES
INDIRECT

NO. OF SHARES

ACQUIRED SOLD ACQUIRED SOLD

Stéphane HENRY - - 582 -

E. Jean MAMET 1,752 - 73 -

STATEMENT OF REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY

The remuneration policy adopted by IGF for its Non-Executive directors involves setting directors’ fees at a level 
which is commensurate with the expected time commitment to the Company, the responsibilities and duties 
associated with such position and the contribution brought to Board deliberations. Moreover, the quantum of 
fees payable to the directors is aligned with prevailing market rates to ensure a certain comparability with those 
proposed by other companies of similar size and complexity. directors’ fees are also risk-adjusted to prevent any 
reputational impact resulting from the payment of excessive remuneration amounts. The Corporate Governance, 
Nominations and Contracts Committee is responsible for reviewing the level of directors’ fees as and when 
required.   
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
The Board has restricted payment of directors’ fees only to Independent Non-Executive directors. These directors 
are therefore remunerated with a fixed annual fee whilst committee members, if independent, are paid based on 
their attendance at meetings. The said fees are disclosed below:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairman (if independent) MUR 45,000

Annually
Directors MUR 25,000

AUDIT COMMITTEE Member MUR 12,500 Per attendance at meeting
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, NOMINATION  
AND CONTRACTS COMMITTEE

Member MUR 11,000 Per attendance at meeting

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE Member MUR 12,500 Per attendance at meeting

The Independent Non-Executive directors may elect to be remunerated either in monetary terms or by way of 
shares in the Fund.

Total remuneration paid to the directors during the year under review, net of “Pay as You Earn” (“PAYE”) deductions, 
was as follows:

DIRECTORS 2017
MUR

2016
MUR

Marc-Emmanuel VIVES - -
Christine SAUZIER - -
Sébastien DARUTY - -
Stéphane HENRY - -
James LEUNG YIN KOW 106,250 106,250
E. Jean MAMET 21,250 30,600
Imrith RAMTOHUL 106,250 106,250
Antoine SEEYAVE 21,250 30,600

AGREEMENTS
IGF has entered into the following agreements with its service providers:
•  Investment Management Agreement with IPRO Fund Management Ltd (approved on 1 June 2006 and 

amended on 11 November 2009, 4 February 2010 and 1 July 2010);
•  Administrative and Transfer Agency Agreement with MITCO Fund Services Ltd, formerly known as Galileo 

Portfolio Services Limited (approved on 1 June 2006 and amended on 11 November 2009);
•  Distribution Agreement with Investment Professionals Ltd (approved on 8 December 2006 and amended on 

1 May 2014);
•  Compliance Services Agreement with Abax Corporate Administrators Ltd (approved on 12 May 2009 and 

amended on 4 November 2011); 
•  Custody Agreement with The Mauritius Commercial Bank Ltd and IPRO Fund Management Ltd (approved on 

26 September 2014); and
• Service Agreement with CIEL Corporate Services Ltd (approved and renewed on 12 May 2016).

As at the date of this report, the Fund is not governed by any shareholders’ agreement. 
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RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholding
As at 30 June 2017, the stated capital of the Company comprised of:
• 18,066,851 ordinary shares of no par value worth MUR 521,417,696; and
• 1 management share worth MUR 100. 

The management share has been issued on 10 May 2017 to IPRO Fund Management Ltd in accordance with the 
provisions of IGF’s Constitution and do not carry any voting or distribution rights.

Substantial Shareholders
No shareholder held more than 5% of the share capital of the Fund as at 30 June 2017. CIEL Limited has 
redeemed all its 2,451,132 shares in IGF, representing a shareholding of 11.62%, during the year under review.

Data Analysis on Shareholding and Shareholding Profile
The ownership of the ordinary share capital by size of shareholding and the categories of shareholders as at  
30 June 2017 are detailed as follows: 

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDING NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

NUMBER OF  
SHARES HELD

PERCENTAGE  
HELD

1 - 500 1,197 215,571 1.19%
501 - 1,000 343 251,435 1.39%
1,001 - 5,000 680 1,647,971 9.12%
5,001 - 10,000 274 2,003,854 11.09%
10,001 – 50,000 333 6,842,791 37.88%
50,001 – 100,000 37 2,541,255 14.07%
100,001 – 250,000 17 2,636,366 14.59%
250,001 – 500,000 2 680,370 3.77%
500,001 – 1,000,000 2 1,247,238 6.90%
Above 1,000,001 - - -

TOTAL 2,885 18,066,851 100.00%

SHAREHOLDER CATEGORY NUMBER OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

NUMBER OF  
SHARES HELD

PERCENTAGE  
HELD

Individuals 2,762 14,291,722 79.10%
Insurance & Assurance cos 2 521,330 2.89%
Pension & Provident funds 15 1,001,734 5.54%
Investment companies & Trusts 8 154,602 0.86%
Other corporate bodies 98 2,097,463 11.61%

TOTAL 2,885 18,066,851 100.00%
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RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

Shareholder Engagement
IGF is constantly aiming at building a constructive relationship with its shareholders based on mutual dialogue 
as well as promoting a culture of engagement which is critical to the notion of accountability. The Company, 
via its Board of Directors and the Company Secretary, encourages a transparent, effective and regular 
communication with the shareholders and the provision of accurate and comprehensive information in a timely 
manner. The Board considers the Annual Meeting as an ideal platform to record the views and concerns of 
the shareholders while giving them an opportunity to raise questions related to the performance of the Fund. 

Furthermore, the Fund’s commitment in upholding the concept of shareholder activism is highlighted by the 
enhanced use of its website as a means of communication with the shareholders. Investors can access their 
personal accounts on IGF’s website where they receive regular updates on their investments together with 
important material such as the Annual Report, press announcements, quarterly financial results of the Fund, 
dividend declaration and notices of shareholders’ meetings.

Shareholders’ Calendar of Upcoming Events
Publication of final results as at 30 June 2017 By 30 September 2017
Publication of interim results for the quarter ended 30 September 2017 By 14 November 2017
Annual Meeting of Shareholders 14 December 2017
Publication of interim results for the half-year ended 31 December 2017 By 14 February 2018
Publication of interim results for the 9-months ended 31 March 2017 By 15 May 2018
Declaration of final dividend Mid-May 2018
Financial year end 30 June 2018

SHARE PRICE INFORMATION
The movements in the Company’s share price during the year under review were as follows:
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DIVIDEND POLICY
In line with its objective of enhancing shareholder value over the long-term and providing stable returns on investments, 
the Board has adopted a policy whereby distributions are made out of dividend and interest income received by the 
Fund over the year. Gains realised on the sale of investments might also be used to finance the dividend payment if 
required. In deciding the amount of dividend to be declared, the Board pays due attention to factors such as the surplus 
cash available to the Company, its solvency position and the performance of the Fund’s portfolio of investments.

The Fund declared a final dividend of MUR 0.68 per share during the financial year under review compared to 
MUR 0.40 in 2016.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Since the Fund has no employees as at date, no share option scheme has been implemented.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
IGF’s risk management and internal control framework (“the Framework”) has been designed to facilitate the 
identification, assessment and mitigation of the inherent business risks to which the Fund is exposed, while providing 
reasonable assurances pertaining to compliance with regulatory obligations, reliability of financial information and 
safeguarding of assets under management. The Framework is not intended towards eliminating such risks but can be 
considered as an adequate protection against material misstatement or loss which might result from adverse events. 

The oversight of risk management and internal control activities, either at the level of the Fund or its service 
providers, is delegated to the Audit Committee which regularly reviews the effectiveness and robustness of the 
Framework through management letters provided by the external auditors and quarterly compliance reports. 
The Investment Committee, to a certain extent, monitors the controllability of the risks associated with investment 
decisions taken by the fund manager to ensure that they are in line with IGF’s risk appetite and tolerance.

The Framework recognises that the Fund is reliant on its service providers for its proper functioning, which means 
that the ownership of major risk areas, upon their identification, is assigned to the relevant service provider for 
reporting purposes to the Audit Committee or Investment Committee, as the case may be. 

The main risks to which the Fund is exposed and the measures devised to manage same are as follows:

Price Risk
The Company’s exposure to price risk is in respect to fluctuations in the price of the equity securities it holds. To 
manage the said risk, IGF diversifies its portfolio in accordance with the limits set out in its prospectus.

Currency Risk
The Company’s operations are carried out on an international front and as such are subject to foreign exchange 
risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily to the USD and the EUR. Currency risk is being monitored 
by the investment manager and considered in the portfolio construction process.

Liquidity Risk 
This relates to the risk that the Company might not generate sufficient amounts of cash to settle its debts as they 
fall due. Since the Fund is subject to weekly redemptions on its ordinary shares, it ensures that the majority of its 
investments are made in instruments traded in an active market and that can be readily disposed of.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Country Risk
Since a significant part of the Fund’s portfolio is concentrated in African countries, including Mauritius, where 
investments are held in entities operating in various sectors of these countries’ economies, IGF remains exposed 
to the economic trends prevailing in such sectors as these conditions impact on the share price of the investee 
companies and ultimately on the share price of the Fund.

Concentration Risk
The Company might in certain circumstances concentrate the majority of its investments into some companies 
instead of spreading same over a larger number of entities. Consequently, the Fund might incur significant 
losses as a result of a fall in the value of those concentrated investments. IGF strives at diversifying its portfolio 
of investments to reduce the concentration risk.

Compliance Risk
The Fund should abide by several legal and regulatory requirements due to the nature of its activity and might 
face sanctions from its regulators in the event of non-compliance. This risk is mitigated through compliance 
reviews on a quarterly basis, the findings of which are communicated to the Audit Committee.

Financial Risk
Please refer to note 16 to the financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Please refer to note 15 of the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE
The Fund has arranged for a proper liability insurance cover with a limit of MUR 300M for its directors and 
officers, renewable on a yearly basis, for any legal action entered against them. 

DONATIONS
Donations payable for the year under review amounted as follows:

2017 
MUR

2016 
MUR

Corporate Social Responsibility 77,988 65,276
Political - -

CIEL Corporate Services Ltd
Company Secretary

29 September 2017
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OTHER STATUTORY DISCLOSURES
(Pursuant to Section 221 of the Companies Act 2001)

NATURE OF BUSINESS
The Fund has been licensed as a Collective Investment Scheme and acts as an investment company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Company had not entered into any service contract with its directors for the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS
Remuneration and benefits received by the directors from the Company, net of PAYE, were as follows:

2017 
MUR

2016 
MUR

Directors of the Company:
Executive - -
Non-Executive - -
Independent Non-Executive 255,000 273,700

AUDITORS’ REPORT AND ACCOUNTS
The auditors’ report is set out on pages 31 to 34 and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income is set out on page 37.

AUDIT AND NON-AUDIT FEES
Fees payable to the external auditors for audit and non-audit services for the year are as follows:

2017 
MUR

2016 
MUR

External Auditors
Audit 200,675 195,730
Other Services 123,350 56,350

Non-audit services availed from the external auditors relate to the assistance provided for tax computation purposes 
and the filing of the Fund’s audited financial statements as at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2017 in XBRL format. 

APPRECIATION
The Board expresses its appreciation to all those involved for their input during the year.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Marc-Emmanuel Vives Stéphane Henry
Chairperson Director

29 September 2017
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for:

(i) adequate accounting records and maintenance of effective internal control systems;

(ii)  the preparation of financial statements which fairly present the state of affairs of the Fund as at the end of 
the financial year and the cash flows for that period and which comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS); and

(iii)  the use of appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The external auditors are responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented.

The directors report that:

(i)  adequate accounting records and an effective system of internal control and risk management have been 
maintained while no internal audit function has been established;

(ii)  appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates have 
been used consistently;

(iii)   International Financial Reporting Standards have been adhered to. Any departure has been disclosed, 
explained and quantified; and

(iv)   the Code of Corporate Governance has been adhered to in all material aspects and reasons provided for 
non-compliance.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Marc-Emmanuel Vives Stéphane Henry
Chairperson Director

29 September 2017
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FUND PERFORMANCE 

The Net Asset Value (“NAV”) per share of IPRO Growth Fund Ltd (“IGF”) stood at Rs. 28.86 as at 30 June 2017 
compared to Rs. 25.57 as at 30 June 2016. The Fund also increased its dividend to Rs. 0.68 from Rs. 0.40 in the 
previous financial year, leading to a total return for shareholders of 15.5% for the year 2016/2017.

Annualised Total Return
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TOTAL PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION

Assets under management stood at Rs. 521 million as at 30 June 2017, with the local and international allocation 
(excluding cash) split at 61.4% and 33.7%, respectively.

30 JUNE 2017 30 JUNE 2016

RS. ‘000 % OF TOTAL 
PORTFOLIO RS. ‘000 % OF TOTAL 

PORTFOLIO

LOCAL PORTFOLIO
SEM shares  277,417 53.2%  268,548 49.8%
DEM shares  42,288 8.1%  39,621 7.3%
Unquoted shares  657 0.1%  663 0.1%
Fixed Income  - 0.0%  51,500 9.5%
TOTAL  320,362 61.4%  360,333 66.8%

INTERNATIONAL PORTFOLIO
African Equities  90,442 17.3%  100,514 18.6%
African Fixed Income  85,124 16.3%  75,355 14.0%
Property Funds  254 0.0%  244 0.0%
TOTAL  175,820 33.7%  176,112 32.7%

LIQUIDITY  25,236 4.8%  2,941 0.5%

TOTAL PORTFOLIO  521,418 100.0%  539,386 100.0%



ANNUAL REPORT 2017  / /              25

MANAGEMENT REPORT

LOCAL PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION & PERFORMANCE

The local portfolio is mainly invested in local equity securities predominantly listed on the Official Market 
as well as on the Development and Enterprise Market. During the period under review, the Fund sold all of 
its local fixed income instruments, which represented 14% of the local portfolio at the end of the previous 
financial year.

48+17+10+20+1+4Banks, Insurance  
& Other Finance

48.7%

Investments
16.9%

Leisure & Hotels
10%

Industry
19.9%

Liquidity 
4.3%

Unquoted 
Securities 

0.2%

PERFORMANCE LOCAL PORTFOLIO SEMTRI

Q1 2016/17 5.3% 5.5%

Q2 2016/17 0.0% 0.1%

Q3 2016/17 3.0% 7.0%

Q4 2016/17 11.6% 10.7%

FY 2016/17 21.1% 25.1%

Over the year, our local investments have underperformed the SEMTRI by 4.0%. The underperformance 
stemmed in large parts from our small allocation to IBL Ltd, which gained over 47% over the financial year 
under review and displaced SBM Holdings as the second largest counter in the SEMDEX. Overall, we remain 
comfortable with most of our current local equity holdings in the long term, but might remove further selected 
names during financial year 2017/2018 where we have limited long term convictions.

INTERNATIONAL PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION & PERFORMANCE

The international portfolio of IGF represented 33.7% of total investments as at 30 June 2017, split predominantly 
between the African Market Leaders Fund (51.4% of the international portfolio) and the Africa Total Return Fund 
(48.4% of the international portfolio). 
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INTERNATIONAL PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE

PERFORMANCE FOREIGN  
PORTFOLIO

MSCI EFM  
AFRICA EX ZA

AFMI 
BLOOMBERG 

AFRICAN BOND

STANDARD BANK 
AFRICA SOVEREIGN 

BOND INDEX

Q1 2016/17 1.2% 4.1% 4.4% 6.4%
Q2 2016/17 -0.9% -3.6% -17.9% 0.2%
Q3 2016/17 1.0% -2.7% 3.9% 1.7%
Q4 2016/17 3.4% 14.6% 3.2% 1.4%
FY 2016/17 4.6% 11.8% -8.2% 9.9%

In Mauritian Rupee terms, the African Market Leaders Fund gained 9.3% over financial year 2016/2017. While 
the Fund is benchmark agnostic, the performance of MSCI EFM African ex ZA (+12%) fared better due to its 
higher allocation to the strongly performing equity market in Nigeria. However, MSCI changed its valuation 
methodology with respect to the official Nigerian Naira rate only in July 2017. Hence, the negative currency 
attribution stemming from actual market rates for the Nigerian Naira did not feed through to the performance 
of the MSCI index for the period under review. Regarding our African fixed income allocation, the Africa Total 
Return Fund gained 4.0% over the period, with the broad rally seen in African U.S. Dollar denominated bonds 
continuing during financial year 2016/2017. Africa local currency fixed income, as measured by the AFMI 
Bloomberg African Bond Index, performed much worse, largely driven by the devaluation of the Egyptian 
Pound by 50% in November 2016. The Africa Total Return Fund had no allocation to Egypt in financial year 
2016/2017. Overall, the allocation to the above Funds yielded a return of 4.6% over the year.

TOP 10 HOLDINGS

The top 10 holdings represented 83.2% of the total portfolio as at 30 June 2017.

TOP 10 HOLDINGS WEIGHT

MCB Group 19.0%
African Market Leaders (I) Fund (USD) 17.4%
Africa Total Return (I) Fund (USD) 16.3%
Phoenix Bev 6.3%
Ciel Textile 4.7%
SBM Holdings 4.5%
Lux* Island Resorts 4.0%
Ciel 3.9%
Mauritius Union Assurance 3.7%
Phoenix Investment 3.4%

TOTAL TOP 10 83.2%
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MARKET REVIEW

SEMTRI S&P 500 MSCI EM STOXX 
EUROPE 

600 

MSCI EFM 
AFRICA  

EX ZA 

 STANDARD BANK 
AFRICA SOVEREIGN 

BOND INDEX 

AFMI 
BLOOMBERG 

AFRICAN BOND

Q1 2016/17 5.5% -2.8% -7.3% -4.8% 4.1% 6.4% 4.4%
Q2 2016/17 0.1% 4.8% -3.1% 0.5% -3.6% 0.2% -17.9%
Q3 2016/17 7.0% 3.2% 8.6% 4.6% -2.7% 1.7% 3.9%
Q4 2016/17 10.7% 0.5% 3.3% 4.0% 14.6% 1.4% 3.2%
FY 2016/17 25.1% 11.8% 17.3% 14.7% 11.8% 9.9% -8.2%

Global Markets
U.S. equities market performed well during the year, with the S&P 500 returning 12% over financial year 
2016/2017 in Mauritian Rupee terms. After the victory of Donald Trump in the U.S. presidential elections 
in November 2016, expectations of a reduction in red tape for businesses, lower corporate tax rates and 
deficit spending on infrastructure ignited investor spirits and pushed the U.S. and with it global equity 
markets upwards. Macroeconomic data released during the last quarters remained broadly supportive 
of global equities markets. The U.S. Federal Reserve (“FED”) hiked interest rates by 0.25% in December 
2016 and December 2017, despite both PCE and CPI inflation rates in the U.S. being much lower than the 
FED’s 2% inflation target. FED officials remain keen to continue nudging monetary policy towards a more 
normalized stance both in terms of price and quantity of money, and decreasing ‘data dependency’ could 
be observed of late. The momentum of the ‘Trump trade’ slowed down over the course of the year amid more 
political uncertainty around the administration’s ability to push through the planned reforms. The S&P 500 
nonetheless reached new all-time highs and stretched the 9-year bull market even further, led by large-cap 
technology stocks.

In Europe, equity markets performed well, with the Euro Stoxx 600 index advancing 14.7% in Mauritian Rupee 
terms. Expectations of a cyclical uptick of European economies and strong increase in corporate earnings 
supported share prices, particularly those of the traditional cyclical sectors in Europe. While political risk was 
the focus in early 2017 as the French presidential elections approached, markets responded positively to the 
convincing win of Emmanuel Macron in the second round.

The MSCI Emerging Market index gained 17.3% in Mauritian rupee terms during the year. After a long spell 
of weak earnings in emerging markets, the positive profit outlook and cheap valuations provided a favourable 
backdrop for the asset class. It should be noted though that the rally was led particularly by China and Hong 
Kong and, like in the U.S., largely by the technology sector. A moderate upswing in global growth and the lack of 
follow-through on protectionist trade policies from the Trump administration as well as the U.S. Dollar weakness 
provided additional tailwinds to the asset class during the financial year.
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MARKET REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Local Markets
The Official Market rallied strongly during the financial year with a return of 25.1%, including dividends. The 
performance came on the back of strong share price performance of MCB Group (+32%) and newly-listed  
IBL Ltd (+47%). Across the market, only 7 stocks showed share price declines, with Harel Mallac leading 
the list with a decline of 22%. With an increasing accommodative monetary policy pursued by the Bank of 
Mauritius following benign headline inflation rates over 2016, money managers as well as retail investors have 
turned to local equities in search of annuity incomes in the form of dividends. From a fundamental perspective, 
we like to highlight that the median return on equity for most stocks is still in the mid-single digit levels and 
remain below the market cost of equity of around 10% to 16%, depending on estimates of equity risk premium 
and company/industry beta. Furthermore, it is interesting to note that, although the correlation between the 
SEMDEX and EUR/USD is weak from a statistical standpoint, the trend in the major global currency pair 
has been a meaningful signal for inflection points for local stock market indices. While we believe that the 
fundamental picture for Mauritius remains sluggish overall, the reliance of the local economy on Europe as 
an important source of income seems to have rendered the movement of the EUR/USD currency pair into a 
self-fulfilling prophecy for local index returns. Against a backdrop of stock prices running regularly ahead of 
fundamental bottom-up considerations, we remain comfortable with the moderately concentrated local equity 
portfolio comprising of stocks with sustainable local competitive advantages, strong management teams and 
balance sheets and, in some cases, potential for further international expansion.

The domestic economy is increasingly saturated, especially for companies following “traditional” business models. 
A certain lack of imagination coupled with a lack of ability and/or willingness to execute decisions taken or to 
reengineer non-performing business lines can be at times observed in the local market. In such an environment, 
it is increasingly clear that growth will have to be acquired, whether locally or abroad. In the ‘Investments’ sector, 
the balance sheet restructuring of IBL and CIEL should generate additional firepower for capital allocation 
programmes and generate good returns for their shareholders in the long term, provided capital is allocated 
wisely. However, we take the view that “operating companies” need to become increasingly active in the M&A 
space as well. The acquisition of Edena SA by Phoenix Bev stands as a good example. While the local beverages 
company has the necessary competitive advantages such as having a ‘front of mind’ brand, economies of scale, 
shelf space and an entrenched distribution network in Mauritius, the purchase of the market-leading water bottling 
company Edena SA at an earnings yield of 7% should generate sound returns to shareholders over the long term. 
To recall, Phoenix Bev has consistently been generating a return on capital of over 11% over the last 4 years.

The Fund sold its remaining fixed income holdings during the year. With the cut in Key Repo Rate in July 
2016 (40 bps to 4.0%) and in September 2017 (50 bps to 3.5%), yields on local government securities do not 
sufficiently compensate for the macroeconomic risks, particularly with the Debt/GDP ratio reaching the 65% 
threshold, a widening budget deficit and a current account deficit which stands to deteriorate given the high 
import content of infrastructure projects earmarked by the government. Further, the illiquidity of fixed income 
securities as characterised by very high bid-offer spreads continues to be a challenge for money managers. 
With regards to corporate bonds, investors are regularly not remunerated for taking credit risk, as pricing is 
clearly driven by a demand side that scrambles for a yield pick-up over the savings rate. On the flip side, it is 
clear that corporate issuers are wisely using the current low interest rate environment and the demand induced 
window to improve short-term cash flow positions as well as to reduce their cost of debt.

Overall, the current investment opportunity set remains very restrained both in equities and fixed income, with 
only a few investment candidates meeting our investment criteria, whether in terms of intrinsic valuation or 
fundamental bottom-up considerations.
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MARKET REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Regional Markets
The strategy of the African Market Leaders Fund to invest only in companies with sustainable and enduring 
competitive advantages in their respective countries has generated 9.3% in Mauritian Rupee terms during 
financial year 2016/2017 despite accentuated economic and political risks in countries such as Zimbabwe, 
Nigeria and Kenya. Within the African equities universe, corporate earnings are growing at diverging speeds 
in large parts due to country-specific problems. In larger markets, the Nigerian All Share index returned 
5.2% in U.S. Dollar terms during the year while the Nairobi All Share index gained an impressive 15.5%, 
led by blue-chip stocks such as Safaricom. The Johannesburg All Share index returned 14.5% over the 
year, largely driven by currency attribution as the South African Rand appreciated 13.5% against the U.S. 
Dollar. In Nigeria, the hard currency supply has improved in recent months following the introduction of a 
separate FX window in April 2017. This in turn led to optimism by market participants for Nigerian equities, 
particularly for banking stocks which have reported resilient results and were in some cases trading at 
distressed valuation levels.

As for our allocation to the Africa Total Return Fund, the portfolio of African hard and local currency bonds 
in the continent returned 4.0% during the year in Mauritian rupee terms in an environment of historically 
low risk premiums that continue to compress further. The Fund took an increasingly cautious stance since 
January 2017 as capital preservation is an important pillar of the investment strategy. The Fund will be able 
to seize opportunities on the back of market corrections with the current strategy. Commodities have been 
of mixed support for our allocation towards African assets, with metals generally performing strongly while 
prices for crude oil and soft commodities such as sugar, cocoa and palm oil coming under pressure in 2017.

MARKET OUTLOOK

As low interest rates increasingly become the main justification for prevailing valuations of global equity and 
credit markets, a rate hike by the FED in December 2017 and a reduction of its balance sheet in October 
2017 could lead to a return of volatility across “risky” asset classes. Valuations of securities that are sensitive 
to interest rates, such as high-dividend yield stocks, REITs and high-yield sovereign and corporate credit 
continue to be largely driven by relative considerations. On the other hand, the ECB and Bank of Japan are 
likely to continue with their very expansive monetary policy well into 2018 which will, on balance, provide 
support to global asset prices. A non-negligible risk stems from China whose financial system remains opaque 
and difficult to understand for any foreign analyst. China’s role in the global economy today is undeniable and 
some observers predict a secular decrease in the country’s growth rate due to demographics, environmental 
issues and more authoritarian party politics.

Within the African equities universe, a number of factors are largely supportive of equity markets and 
these include receding economic headwinds, a further normalization of inflation rates following the steep 
depreciation of many currencies and the slashing of interest rates by central banks. While it can be argued 
that valuation levels are now tilting more towards the expensive side in certain countries, improvements 
in earnings of market-leading companies over the next quarters should lead to positive returns for patient 
investors. If the broadly supportive global macroeconomic conditions prevail and prices of commodities do 
not decline again over the quarters to come, the strategic allocation to the asset class should continue to 
perform well going forward.
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MARKET OUTLOOK (CONTINUED)

In the fixed income space, rock-bottom yields in core developed government bond markets continue to 
support emerging and frontier sovereign bonds. However, current credit spread levels for African sovereign 
hard currency bonds appear to be increasingly disconnected from credit fundamentals. Room for further 
spread tightening looks limited, even if the global ‘goldilocks’ scenario of accelerating growth and benign 
inflation plays out in the quarters ahead. By contrast, selected local currency bonds should offer value given 
favourable real effective exchange rates, dovish central banks and receding inflation rates.

The trailing P/E multiple of the SEMDEX is currently at ~16x with a P/B multiple of ~1.3x. This contrasts 
with median trailing 12-month ROE of only 6.2%. While it can be argued that the main Mauritian index is in 
‘overvalued’ territory, market participants seem to be pricing in an improvement in corporate earnings over 
the next quarters. Further multiple expansion as the single driver of returns is hard to imagine going forward 
but, given the prominence of the banking sector (>30% weight), further P/B multiple expansion in the global 
financial sector will likely have a positive effect on MCB and SBM. Overall quality and sustainability of profits 
of companies listed on the SEM have remained rather weak though. The surprise cut in the Key Repo Rate by 
50bps on 09 September to 3.50%, despite increasing inflationary pressures seen in 2017, seems to be fueling 
the ongoing rally on the Official Market. Trailing dividend yield of the SEMDEX is at around 3%, making equity 
investments for local investors ever more appealing as compared to fixed deposits and saving accounts. That 
said, an eventual expansive fiscal policy (Metro Express, Road Decongestion Programme etc.) could lead to 
positive spill-over effect in the short term. Further, some smart city projects (e.g. Moka City) have moved out 
of ‘gestation period’ and should have moderate positive influence on the economy and on some of the listed 
companies involved in the project. On the external front, a positive dynamic in the EU and declining political 
risk are serving as non-negligible catalysts for the ‘Eurocentric’ local economy. This could signal a turn in 
confidence for the private sector, which could result in new productive investments, especially in the services 
sector as opposed to the traditional manufacturing sector.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of IPRO Growth Fund Ltd (the “Fund”) set out on pages 36 to 71 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017 and the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets attributable to holders of redeemable ordinary 
shares and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of, the financial position of the Fund as at  
30 June 2017, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the Companies Act 2001 and the Financial 
Reporting Act 2004.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing audits of the Fund. We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code, and in accordance with other ethical requirements 
applicable to performing the audit of the Fund. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate 
in our report.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Report of the 
Directors, the Certificate from the Company Secretary as required by the Companies Act 2001 and the 
Corporate Governance Report which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The Annual Report 
and Management Report are expected to be made available to us after that date. Other information does not 
include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF IPRO GROWTH FUND LTD
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Other Information (Continued)
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Annual Report and Management Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2001 and the 
Financial Reporting Act 2004, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Fund’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intends to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Fund’s internal control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF IPRO GROWTH FUND LTD
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communication. 

Other matter
This report is made solely for the Fund’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 205 of the Companies 
Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Fund’s members those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Fund and the Fund’s members, as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF IPRO GROWTH FUND LTD
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Companies Act 2001
We have no relationship with or interests in the Fund other than in our capacity as auditors, tax advisors and 
dealings in the ordinary course of business.  

We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.  

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Fund as far as it appears from our examination 
of those records.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Financial Reporting Act 2004
The directors are responsible for preparing the Corporate Governance Report. Our responsibility is to report 
on the extent of compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance as disclosed in the annual report and 
whether the disclosure is consistent with the requirement of the Code. 

In our opinion, the disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report are consistent with the requirements of 
the Code.

ERNST & YOUNG Andre Lai Wan Loong, A.C.A, F.C.C.A
Ebène, Mauritius Licensed by FRC

29 September 2017

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF IPRO GROWTH FUND LTD
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NOTES 2017
RS.

2016
RS.

ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4(i)  496,182,199 536,444,958 
Accounts receivable and prepayments 6  1,323,815  1,147,217 
Cash and cash equivalents 7  67,369,981  7,766,175 

TOTAL ASSETS  564,875,995  545,358,350 

EQUITY
Management share 8  100  - 

LIABILITIES
Short term loans 9  122,779  256,782 
Accounts payable 10  43,209,988  5,660,666 
Current tax liability 11(a)  125,432  54,710 

Total liabilities excluding net assets attributable  
to holders of redeemable ordinary shares  43,458,199  5,972,158 

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable  
ordinary shares 12 521,417,696 539,386,192 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  564,875,995  545,358,350 

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 September 2017 
and signed on its behalf by:

 Marc-Emmanuel Vives Stephane Henry
Chairman  Director

29 September 2017

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on pages 31 to 34.

As at 30 June 2017
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 30 June 2017

NOTES 2017
RS.

2016
RS.

INCOME
Interest income  4,154,844  4,280,710 
Dividend income  12,091,196  12,209,745 
Other income  -  30,212 
Net foreign exchange gain  -  41,827 
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4(i)  75,309,104  - 

 91,555,144  16,562,494 

EXPENSES
Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  4(i)  -  56,706,074 
Net foreign exchange loss  369,782  - 
Management fees 18(i)  4,584,275  4,918,172 
Administration and transfer agent fees 18(ii)  1,469,658  1,574,498 
Secretarial fees  287,500  172,411 
Distribution costs 18(iii)  2,157,278  2,314,433 
Other operating expenses 13  2,425,613  2,257,243 

 11,294,106  67,942,831 

Profit / (loss) before tax  80,261,038  (51,380,337)
Taxation 11  (457,527)  (347,536)
Profit / (loss) for the year  79,803,511  (51,727,873)

Other comprehensive income  -  - 

Total comprehensive income / (loss)  79,803,511  (51,727,873)

Increase / (decrease) in net assets attributable 
to holders of redeemable ordinary shares  79,803,511  (51,727,873)

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on pages 31 to 34.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE 
TO HOLDERS OF REDEEMABLE ORDINARY SHARES

NOTE 2017 2016

RS. RS.

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable  
ordinary shares at 01 July  539,386,192  642,325,636 
Proceeds from issue of redeemable ordinary shares  46,270,871  20,430,826 
Redemption of redeemable ordinary shares (130,435,409)  (63,241,486)
Net decrease from share transactions  (84,164,538)  (42,810,660)

Dividend paid 14  (13,607,469)  (8,400,911)
Increase / (decrease) in net assets attributable  
to holders of redeemable ordinary shares  79,803,511  (51,727,873)

Net assets attributable to holders of redeemable  
ordinary shares at 30 June  521,417,696  539,386,192 

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on pages 31 to 34.

For the year ended 30 June 2017
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

NOTES 2017
RS.

2016*
RS.

Cash flows from operating activities
Increase / (decrease) in net assets attributable to holders  
of redeemable ordinary shares before taxation  80,261,038  (51,380,337)

Adjustment for non-cash transactions:
Net (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 4(i)  (75,309,104)  56,706,074 
Interest income  (4,154,844)  (4,280,710)
Dividend income  (12,091,196)  (12,209,745)
Foreign exchange loss/(gain)  369,782  (41,827)

 (10,924,324)  (11,206,545)
Changes in working capital :
(Increase) / decrease in receivable 6  (176,498)  2,846,601 
Decrease in short term loans 9  (134,003)  (427,852)
Increase / (decrease) in accounts payables 10  37,549,322  (3,219,421)

 26,314,497  (12,007,217)
Purchase of investments in financial assets* 4(i)  (6,556,536)  (7,967,577)
Proceeds from disposal of investments in financial assets* 4(i)  122,128,399  37,425,522 
Dividend received  12,091,196  12,209,745 
Interest received  4,154,844  4,280,710 
Tax paid 11  (386,805)  (278,483)
Net cash generated from operating activities  157,745,595  33,662,700 

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of redeemable ordinary shares  46,270,871  20,430,826 
Redemption of redeemable ordinary shares (130,435,409)  (63,241,486)
Dividend paid  (13,607,469)  (8,400,911)
Net cash used in financing activities  (97,772,007)  (51,211,571)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  59,973,588  (17,548,871)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  7,766,175  25,273,219 

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  59,973,588  (17,548,871)
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain  (369,782)  41,827 
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 7  67,369,981  7,766,175 

*  The cash flows related to investments in financial assets have been shown under operating activities to better reflect the cash flows arising 
from the principal activities of the Fund.

The notes on pages 40 to 71 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Auditors’ report on pages 31 to 34.

For the year ended 30 June 2017
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

IPRO Growth Fund Ltd (‘’the Fund’’) is a limited liability company incorporated as an open-ended Fund 
and domiciled in Mauritius.  The Fund though listed , is not traded, on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius. 
The Fund is an authorised mutual fund licensed with the Financial Services Commission as a Collective 
Investment Scheme and a Reporting Issuer. The address of its registered office is 5th Floor, Ebène Skies, 
Rue de l’Institut, Ebène, Mauritius.

The Fund invests in quoted equity securities listed on the Offical Market and Development & Enterprise 
Market (“DEM”) of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius (“SEM”) , local and foreign mutual funds and fixed 
income securities.

The Fund pools money from investors and invests across a diversified basket of local and foreign securities.
The Fund’s investment objective is to achieve long-term capital growth whilst providing shareholders with 
annual income in the form of dividend.

The Fund’s investment activities are managed by IPRO Fund Management Ltd (the ‘Investment Manager’).

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss which are measured at fair value in accordance with 
IAS 39. The financial statement are presented in Mauritian Rupee (Rs.) and all values are rounded to the 
nearest Rs., except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

For the year ended 30 June 2017 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the 
following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations adopted in the year commencing 1 July 2016:

EFFECTIVE FOR 
ACCOUNTING PERIOD 

BEGINNING ON  
OR AFTER

Standards 

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016

Amendments

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations  
(Amendments to IFRS 11) 1 January 2016

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation  
(Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38) 1 January 2016

Agriculture: Bearer Plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41) 1 January 2016

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to IAS 27) 1 January 2016

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle 1 January 2016

Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 1) 1 January 2016

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception  
(Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28) 1 January 2016

None of the above standards, amendments or improvement is deemed to have an impact on the financial 
statements or performance of the Fund.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
The following standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet 
effective. They are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on the specified dates, but the Fund 
has not early adopted them:

EFFECTIVE FOR 
ACCOUNTING PERIOD 

BEGINNING ON OR AFTER

New or revised standards
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2021

New or revised interpretations
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 1 January 2018
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019

Amendments
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate  
or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

Effective date  
deferred indefinitely

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses  
(Amendments to IAS 12) 1 January 2017
Disclosure Initiative (Amendment to IAS 7) 1 January 2017
Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018
Clarifications and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions 
(Amendments to IFRS 2) 1 January 2018
Applying IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ with IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ 
(Amendments to IFRS 4) 1 January 2018
Annual Improvements 2014 – 2016 Cycle 1 January 2017
Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40) 1 January 2018

Management is still assessing the impact from the adoption of these new or revised standards and 
interpretations on the presentation of its financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3  ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
(CONTINUED)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Classification and measurement of financial assets, Accounting 
for financial liabilities and derecognition – 1 January 2018
IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for classifying and measuring financial assets, as follows:

Classification and measurement of financial assets 
All financial assets are measured at fair value on initial recognition, adjusted for transaction costs if the 
instrument is not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). Debt instruments are subsequently 
measured at FVTPL, amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), on the basis of 
their contractual cash flows and the business model under which the debt instruments are held. There is a fair 
value option (FVO) that allows financial assets on initial recognition to be designated at FVTPL if that eliminates 
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. Equity instruments are generally measured at FVTPL. 

However, entities have an irrevocable option on an instrument-by-instrument basis to present changes 
in the fair value of non-trading instruments in other comprehensive income (OCI) (without subsequent 
reclassification to profit or loss). The new or revised standards will have an impact on the classification 
and measurement of the Fund’s financial assets.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
For financial liabilities designated at FVTPL using the FVO, the amount of change in the fair value of such 
financial liabilities that is attributable to changes in credit risk must be presented in OCI. The remainder 
of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the fair value change in 
respect of the liability’s credit risk in OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. 
All other IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement classification and measurement 
requirements for financial liabilities have been carried forward into IFRS 9, including the embedded 
derivative separation rules and the criteria for using the FVO.

Impairment
The impairment requirements are based on an expected credit loss (ECL) model that replaces the IAS 39 
incurred loss model. The ECL model applies to: debt instruments accounted for at amortised cost or at 
FVOCI; most loan commitments; financial guarantee contracts; contract assets under IFRS 15; and lease 
receivables under IAS 17 Leases. Entities are generally required to recognise either 12-months’ or lifetime 
ECL, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition 
(or when the commitment or guarantee was entered into). For some trade receivables, the simplified 
approach may be applied whereby the lifetime expected credit losses are always recognised. 

Hedge accounting
Hedge effectiveness testing is prospective, without the 80% to 125% bright line test in IAS 39, and, depending 
on the hedge complexity, can be qualitative. A risk component of a financial or non-financial instrument may 
be designated as the hedged item if the risk component is separately identifiable and reliably measureable. 
The time value of an option, any forward element of a forward contract and any foreign currency basis spread, 
can be excluded from the designation as the hedging instrument and accounted for as costs of hedging. More 
designations of items as the hedged item are possible, including layer designations and some net positions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3  ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
(CONTINUED)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – Classification and measurement of financial assets, Accounting 
for financial liabilities and derecognition – 1 January 2018 (continued)
Hedge accounting (continued)
The application of IFRS 9 may change the measurement and presentation of many financial instruments, 
depending on their contractual cash flows and business model under which they are held. The impairment 
requirements will generally result in earlier recognition of credit losses. The new hedging model may lead 
to more economic hedging strategies meeting the requirements for hedge accounting. This standard will 
not have an impact as the Fund does not have any hedge instrument.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - effective 1 January 2018
IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers.
The five steps in the model are as follows:
• Identify the contract with the customer;
• Identify the performance obligations in the contract;
• Determine the transaction price;
• Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts; and 
• Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Guidance is provided on topics such as the point in which revenue is recognised, accounting for variable 
consideration, costs of fulfilling and obtaining a contract and various related matters. New disclosures 
about revenue are also introduced. The new standard is not expected to have a significant impact on 
the Fund since the majority of the revenue streams of the Fund relate to interest and dividend which are 
outside the scope of IFRS 15.

IFRS 16 Leases - effective 1 January 2019
IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases for a lessee. 
Instead all leases are treated in a similar way to finance leases applying IAS 17. Leases are ‘capitalised’ 
by recognising the present value of the lease payments and showing them either as lease assets (right-
of-use assets) or together with property, plant and equipment. If lease payments are made over time, a 
company also recognises a financial liability representing its obligation to make future lease payments.

The most significant effect of the new requirements in IFRS 16 will be an increase in lease assets and 
financial liabilities. Accordingly, for companies with material off balance sheet leases, there will be a change 
to key financial metrics derived from the company’s assets and liabilities (for example, leverage ratios). 

IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases for a lessee. 
Instead all leases are treated in a similar way to finance leases applying IAS 17. Leases are ‘capitalised’ 
by recognising the present value of the lease payments and showing them either as lease assets (right-
of-use assets) or together with property, plant and equipment. If lease payments are made over time, a 
company also recognises a financial liability representing its obligation to make future lease payments.

The amendment will not have an impact on the Fund as it has not entered into any lease agreements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3  ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
(CONTINUED)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts - effective 1 January 2021
IFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
insurance contracts within the scope of the standard. The objective of IFRS 17 is to ensure that an entity 
provides relevant information that faithfully represents those contracts. This information gives a basis for 
users of financial statements to assess the effect that insurance have on the entity’s financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows.

The amendment will not have an impact on the Fund as it does not hold any insurance contracts.

IFRIC 22 - effective 1 January 2018
IFRIC 22 clarifies the accounting for the transactions that include the receipt or payment of advance 
consideration in a foreign currency. The interpretation covers foreign currency transactions when an entity 
recognizes a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance 
consideration before the entity recognizes the related asset, expense, or income.

No early adoption of these standards and interpretations is intended by the Board of Directors. The new 
amendments will require the Fund to provide additional disclosures in the notes to the financial statements.

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments –effective 1 January 2019
IFRIC 23 clarifies the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes. The interpretation sets out how 
to determine the accounting tax position when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The 
interpretation requires an entity to determine whether uncertain tax position is assessed separately or 
as a group and assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment 
used, or proposed to be used, by an entity in its income tax filings. If yes, the entity should determine its 
accounting tax position consistently with the tax treatment used or planned to be used in its income tax 
filings. If no, the entity should reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining its accounting tax position.

No early adoption of these standards and interpretations is intended by the Board of Directors. The new 
amendments will require the Fund to provide additional disclosures in the notes to the financial statements.

Annual Improvements 2014 – 2016 Cycle - 1 January 2017
The following amendments were made to these standards:
–  IFRS 1 - Deletes the short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3–E7 of IFRS 1, because they have now 

served their intended purpose 
–  IFRS 12 - Clarifies the scope of the standard by specifying that the disclosure requirements in the 

standard, except for those in paragraphs B10–B16, apply to an entity’s interests listed in paragraph 5 
that are classified as held for sale, as held for distribution, or as discontinued operations in accordance 
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 

–  IAS 28 - Clarifies that the election to measure at fair value through profit or loss an investment in an 
associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is a venture capital organization, or other 
qualifying entity, is available for each investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-
investment basis, upon initial recognition
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3  ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
(CONTINUED)
Annual Improvements 2014 – 2016 Cycle - 1 January 2017 (Continued)
The directors have evaluated the effect of these new or revised standards and interpretations effective 
for accounting period beginning on 1 July 2017 (except for those effective on and after 01 July 2018) 
and do not expect these amendments and interpretations to have any impact on the presentation of 
the Fund’s financial statements. The impact of new or revised standards and interpretations that are 
effective for accounting period on and after 1 July 2018 are still being evaluated.  The Fund does not 
intend to early adopt these amendments and interpretations.

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses (Amendments to IAS 12) – effective  
1 January 2017
The amendments clarify that unrealised losses on debt instruments measure at fair value in the financial 
statement but at cost for tax purposes can give rise to deductible temporary differences.

The amendments also clarify that the carrying amount of an asset does not limit the estimation of probable 
future taxable profits and that when comparing deductible temporary tax differences with future taxable 
profits, the future taxable profits excludes tax deductions resulting from the reversal of those deductible 
temporarily differences. The directors will assess the impact of the amendments when they become 
effective.

Disclosure Initiative (Amendment to IAS 7) – effective 1 January 2017 
The objective of the amendments is to enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 
arising from financing activities. The amendments will require entities to provide disclosures that enable 
investors to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes. The directors will assess the impact of the amendments when they 
become effective.

Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers – effective 1 January 2018
The amendments in Clarifications to IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ address three of 
the five topics identified (identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, and 
licensing) and provide some transition relief for modified contracts and completed contracts. The IASB 
concluded that it was not necessary to amend IFRS 15 with respect to collectability or measuring non-
cash consideration. The amendment will not have an impact since the Fund does not have any contracts 
with customers.

Clarifications and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions – effective 1 January 2018
The amendments in Clarifications and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions address the 
following; the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-
based payments; share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax 
obligations; and a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the 
classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendment will not have an impact 
since the Fund does not have share-based payments transactions.
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2.3  ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
(CONTINUED)
Transfers of Investment Property (Amendments to IAS 40) - effective 1 January 2018
The amendments have been made to state that an entity shall transfer a property to, or from, investment 
property when, and only when, there is evidence of a change in use. A change of use occurs if property 
meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property. A change in management’s intentions 
for the use of a property by itself does not constitute evidence of a change in use. The amendments 
are effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Earlier application is permitted. An entity 
applies the amendments to changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting 
period in which the entity first applies the amendments. Retrospective application is also permitted if that 
is possible without the use of hindsight.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Foreign currencies
(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Fund are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Fund operates (‘the functional currency’). The Board of Directors 
considers the Mauritian Rupee (“Rs.”) as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects 
of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. The Fund chose the Rs. as it presentation and 
functional currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transactions. Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the dates.

(b) Financial instruments

(i) Classification
The Fund classifies its financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 39 into the following categories:
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The category of the financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss is subdivided into:

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling and 
repurchasing in the near term. This category includes equity securities, investments in managed funds 
and debts instruments. These assets are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from 
short term fluctuation in price. All derivatives and liabilities from the short sales of financial instruments are 
classified as held for trading. 



 48 \ \  ANNUAL REPORT 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Classification (Continued)
Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition
These include redeemable ordinary shares that are not held for trading. These financial liabilities are 
designated on the basis that they are part of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and have 
their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with risk management and investment 
strategies of the Fund, as set out in the Fund’s offering document. The financial information about the 
financial assets is provided internally on that basis to the Investment Manager and to the Board of Directors.

 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivatives financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. The Fund’s loans and receivables comprise of ‘account receivables’ and 
‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the statement of financial position. 

 Other financial liabilities

This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those classified at fair value through profit or loss. The 
Fund includes in this category amounts relating to accounts payables, short terms loans and dividend payable.

(ii) Recognition
The Fund recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only when, it becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally 
established by regulation or convention in the market place are recognised directly on the trade date, i.e., 
the date that the Fund commits to purchase or sell the asset.

(iii) Initial measurement
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial 
position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are recognised directly in profit or loss.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at 
fair value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract, 
and the host contract is not itself classified as held for trading or designated at fair value though profit or 
loss. Embedded derivatives separated from the host are carried at fair value.

Loans and receivables and financial liabilities (other than those classified as held for trading) are measured 
initially at their fair value plus any directly attributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue.

(iv) Subsequent measurement
After initial measurement, the Fund measures financial instruments which are classified at fair value through 
profit or loss at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are recorded 
in ‘Net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’. Interest earned and 
dividend revenue elements of such instruments are recorded separately in ‘Interest income’ and ‘Dividend 
income’, respectively.  
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv) Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance 
for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a 
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, 
the Fund estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, but does 
not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties 
to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other 
premiums or discounts.

(v) Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Fund of similar financial 
assets) is derecognised where:
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
•  The Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and

Either (a) the Fund has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Fund has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.When the Fund has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset (or has 
entered into a pass-through arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of 
the Fund’s continuing involvement in the asset.

The Fund derecognises a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 
or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables and financial liabilities (other than those classified as held for trading) are measured 
initially at their fair value plus any directly attributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c) Impairment of financial assets

A financial asset not classified at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is objective evidence for impairment. A financial asset or a group of financial asset is impaired 
if there is evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset(s), and that loss event(s) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset(s) 
that can be estimated reliably. An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised 
cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit 
or loss and reflected in an allowance account against receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues 
to be recognised. When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of the 
impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

(d) Fair value measurement

The Fund measures its investments in financial instruments, such as equities, debentures and other 
interest bearing investments, at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the 
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Fund.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Fund uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
• Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
•  Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable
•  Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) `
(d) Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Fund 
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation 
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of 
each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Fund has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the 
basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy 
as explained above.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are 
provided in Note 5.

(e) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(f) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in the statement of financial position comprise of cash at bank. Cash equivalents are short term, 
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of change in value, with original maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash 
equivalents are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank and 
short term bank deposit.

(g) Management share

Management shares are not redeemable, do not participate in net income or dividends of the Fund and 
are most subordinate class in issue. The management share is hence classified as equity in accordance 
with IAS32 and does not form part of net asset value of the Fund.

(h) Redeemable ordinary shares

Redeemable ordinary shares are redeemable at the shareholder’s option and are classified as financial 
liabilities, and have been designated as at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. The 
redeemable ordinary shares are measured at fair value. Refer to note 12 for more details.

The movement in fair value is shown in the statement of profit or loss as ‘an increase or decrease in net 
assets attributable to holders of redeemable ordinary share.

(i) Accounts payable

Accounts payables include amount due to investors for redemption of redeemable ordinary shares initiated 
by the holders’ or the Fund. These are recognised as redemption payables and are payable on demand.
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(j) Net gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This item includes changes in the fair value of financial assets held for trading or designated upon initial 
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Unrealized gains and losses comprise changes in the 
fair value of financial assets for the period. Realized gains and losses on disposals of financial assets 
classified as at fair value through profit or loss are calculated using the average cost (AVCO) method. 
They represent the difference between an instrument’s carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash 
payments or receipts made on derivative contracts (excluding payments or receipts on collateral margin 
accounts for such instruments).

(k) Revenue recognition

Interest income and dividend income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss once the right to 
received payment is established.

(l) Expense recognition

All expenses are accounted for in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on the 
accrual basis.

(m) Short term loan

Under the policy of the Fund, applicants’ subscriptions monies received pending allotment of redeemable 
ordinary shares, are recognised as short term loans.

(n) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Fund has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
of the amount can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense of any provision is presented in 
the statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

(o) Related parties

Parties (including management company) are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party making financial or operational decisions.

(p) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Fund’s shareholders is recognized as liability in the financial statements in the 
period in which the dividends are declared.

(q)  Taxes 

Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(q)  Taxes (Continued)

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred 
tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except: When the deferred tax liability 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future credits and any 
unused tax losses. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are 
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax 
asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred 
tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable 
entity and the same taxation authority. 
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(q)  Taxes (Continued)

Corporate Social Responsibility
The Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) was legislated by Government in July 2009. In terms of the 
legislation, the Company is required to allocate 2% of its chargeable income of the preceding financial 
year to Government approved CSR projects.

The required CSR charge for the current year is recognized as income tax expense in profit or loss. 
The net amount of CSR fund payable to the taxation authority is included as income tax payable in the 
statement of financial position. 

VAT
The Fund is not vat registered. VAT paid by the Fund are expensed within the statement of profit 
or loss.

(r) Distributions to shareholders

In accordance with the Fund’s constitution, the Fund fully distributes its distributable income to 
shareholders. Unrealized gains and losses are included in the net assets attributable to redeemable 
ordinary shares.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Fund’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts recognised in the financial statements. However, 
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Judgements 
In the process of applying the Fund’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2.4, the directors 
have made the following judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements.

Determination of functional currency
The determination of the functional currency of the Fund is critical since recording of transactions and 
exchange differences arising therefrom are dependent on the functional currency selected.  The directors 
have considered that the functional currency of the Fund is the Mauritian Rupee (“Rs.”)  The primary 
objective of the Fund is to generate returns in Rs., its capital raising currency.  The liquidity of the Fund 
is managed on a day-to-day basis in Rs. and the Fund’s performance is evaluated in Rs.  Therefore, 
management considers the Rs. as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the 
underlying transactions, events and conditions. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)

Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. The Fund based its assumptions 
and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. However, existing 
circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change due to market changes or 
circumstances arising beyond the control of the Fund. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions 
when they occur.

Fair value measurement of unquoted financial instruments 
When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial 
position cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured 
using the last traded price or valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow (DCF) model. The 
inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, 
a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of 
inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could 
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. See Note 5 for further disclosure.

4. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(i) Held for trading investments

2017
RS.

2016
RS.

At 1 July 536,444,958  622,608,977 
Additions during the year  6,556,536  7,967,577 
Disposals during the year (122,128,399) (37,425,522)
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss 75,309,104 (56,706,074)
At 30 June 496,182,199  536,444,958 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are split as follows:

2017
RS.

2016
RS.

Quoted local equities  319,704,978  308,168,942 
Unquoted local equities  657,047  663,341 
Unquoted equities in managed funds  175,820,174  176,112,414 
Unquoted local government bond and other interest  
bearing investments  -  51,500,261 
At 30 June 496,182,199  536,444,958 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(a) Fair value hierarchy

IFRS 13 requires disclosures relating to fair value measurements using a three-level fair value hierarchy. 
The level within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis 
of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Assessing the significance of 
a particular input requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability. The following 
table shows financial instruments recognised at fair value, categorised between those whose fair value is 
based on:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable.

(b) Recurring fair value measurement of assets and liabilities

2017 2016

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL

RS. RS. RS. RS. RS. RS. RS. RS.

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Quoted local equities 319,704,978  -  - 319,704,978 308,168,942  -  - 308,168,942 
Unquoted local equities  -  - 657,047  657,047  -  -  663,341  663,341 
Unquoted equities  
in managed funds  - 175,566,448 253,726 175,820,174  - 175,868,604  243,810 176,112,414 
Unquoted Local 
government bond and 
other interest bearing 
investments  -  -  -  -  -  - 51,500,261  51,500,261 

TOTAL 319,704,978 175,566,448 910,773 496,182,199 308,168,942 175,868,604 52,407,412 536,444,958 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  - 

Redeemable ordinary 
shares 521,417,696  -  - 521,417,696 539,386,192  -  - 539,386,192 

521,417,696  -  - 521,417,696 539,386,192  -  - 539,386,192 

Transfers between levels
During the year ended 30 June 2017, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 
measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements. The unquoted local 
government bond and other interest bearing investments have been wholly disposed during the year.
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(c) Valuation techniques

(i) Redeemable ordinary shares
Transactions in the redeemable ordinary shares take place with the Distributor, IPRO Professionals Ltd. 
The shares in the Fund may be issued and redeemed on any business day at the listed price on SEM. 
The prices are observable and the SEM is considered as a liquid market as transactions with the Fund 
take place regularly at that price.

“As the Fund offers weekly liquidity in its shares at the traded price, the directors consider that this is 
the price at which market participants would also transact, as a buyer or seller would not be expected 
to accept a price different from the traded price. Therefore, the directors have concluded that the 
most appropriate estimate of fair value of the redeemable ordinary shares is their traded price, without 
adjustment, at the reporting date. This price is calculated by taking the net assets attributable to 
shareholders and dividing by the number of shares in issue.

(ii) Quoted local equities and bonds
When fair values of publicly traded investments are based on quoted market prices, or binding dealer 
price quotations, in an active market for identical assets without any adjustments, the instruments are 
included within Level 1 of the hierarchy.

(iii) Unquoted equities in managed funds
The Fund invests in managed funds and real estate fund whose securities are not quoted in an active 
market. For investments where the fair value are derived mainly from the underlying assets, such as 
funds managed by fund managers, these are valued at net asset value (NAV) using appropriate valuation 
measures for the underlying assets and liabilities. The classification under the fair value hierarchy for 
each type of investments held by the Fund is disclosed below:

a) IPRO African Market Leaders Fund (‘’AML i2’’)
The Fund invests in AML i2 which is a class of share of IPRO Funds Ltd. The underlying assets of 
AML i2 consists solely of quoted securities listed on various Stock Exchanges across Africa. These 
underlying securities are fair valued based on their quoted prices at each measurement date and 
their fair value are then reflected in the net assets value of AML i2 which is determined on a daily 
basis. Given that the share class is not quoted and actively traded on a primary market and the NAV 
represents an observable price, the investments in AML i2 have been classified under level 2 since 
the net asset value represents an observable price.

b) Africa Total Return (I) Fund (USD) (“ATR”)
The Fund invests in ATR which is a class of share of IPRO Funds Ltd. The underlying assets of ATR 
consists solely of fixed income securities which are unquoted but whose prices are observable 
through third party service providers (e.g. Bloomberg). These underlying securities are fair valued 
at each measurement date at their clean price observed from using third party pricing plus accrued 
interest since the last coupon date. These fair values are then reflected in the net assets value of 
the ATR which is determined on a weekly basis. The share class is not quoted and actively traded. 
Therefore, the investments in ATR have been classified under level 2 of the fair value the hierarchy 
since the prices of the underlying investments of ATR are observable price and no unobservable 
inputs have been used for the valuation of these securities.
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5. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Valuation techniques (continued)

c) German Property (i1) EUR (“i1 EUR”)
The Fund invests in i1 EUR which is a class of share of IPRO Funds Ltd. i1 EUR invests solely 
in L&C German Real Estate which is also a managed fund. The underlying investments of i1 
EUR have been valued using the latest NAV provided by the Fund Manager and this fair value 
is reflected within the NAV of the share class. The i1 EUR share class has been suspended by 
IPRO Funds Ltd as the underlying investment itself has also been suspended since 2008. As at 
the measurement date, the directors have assessed that the latest NAV per share of the i1 EUR 
represent the best estimate of fair value. These investments have been classified under level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy.The fund has determined that the reported net asset value represents fair 
value at the end of the reporting period.

(iv) Unquoted local equities
“The Fund invests in unquoted local equities. These investments have been valued at their latest NAV 
per share extracted from the audited financial statements of the underlying investments. Given that 
there are no active market on which to trade the unquoted local equities, the directors have assessed 
that the NAV per share represent the best estimate of fair value at measurement date.These investments 
have been classified under level 3 of the fair value hierachy as they are neither quoted nor traded.
Given that management has used the net asset value of the investees, no unobservable input has been 
developed and as such no sensitivity analysis was performed.

(v) Local government bond and other interest bearing investment
The Fund has disposed all its investments in government bond and mutual aid during the financial 
year.In 2016, the investment in goverment bond and mutual aid had no ascertainable market value. 
These investments were valued at cost plus interest (if any) accrued from purchase to (but excluding) 
the Valuation Day plus or minus the premium or discount (if any) from par value written off over the life 
of the security. The Fund classified the fair value of these investments as Level 3.

Quantitative information of significant unobservable inputs – Level 3.

DESCRIPTION VALUATION  
TECHNIQUE

FAIR VALUE
2017 2016

RS. RS.
Unquoted local equities Net Asset Value  657,047  663,341 
Interest bearing investment Third party pricing  -    51,500,261 
Unquoted equities in managed funds Net Asset Value  253,726  243,810 
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5. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Valuation techniques (continued)

(v) Local government bond and other interest bearing investment (Continued)
The following table shows a reconciliation of all movements in the fair value of financial assets categorised 
within Level 3 between the beginning and the end of the reporting period:

Level 3 reconciliation

2017 2016
RS. RS.

At 1 July  52,407,412  52,752,799 
Additions during the year  -    35,219 
Disposal proceeds during the year  (56,988,414)  (388,590)
Net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  5,491,775  7,984 
At 30 June  910,773  52,407,412 

Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The financial instruments not measured at fair value consist of short term financial assets and financial 
liabilities such as cash and cash equivalent, accounts receivable, short term loan and accounts payable. 
The carrying amounts of these instruments approximate their fair value.

6. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS

2017 2016
RS. RS.

Prepayments  82,587  105,583 
Dividend receivables  1,241,128  1,041,634 
Other receivables  100  -   

 1,323,815  1,147,217 

a) The carrying amounts of dividend receivable approximate their fair value.
b) Other receivable relate to management share ( refer to note 8 ).

7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2017 2016
RS. RS.

Cash at bank  67,369,981  7,766,175 

An amount of Rs. 122,779 (2016: Rs. 256,782) and Rs. 36,915,788 (2016: Rs. 439,675) in relation to short 
term loans and redemption monies respectively, have been included in the cash at bank balances.
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8. MANAGEMENT SHARE

2017 2016
RS. RS.

Issued
At 1 July  -    -   
Issued during the year  100  -   

AT 30 JUNE  100  -   

One management share of no par value was issued to IPRO Fund Management Ltd (the ‘’Investment 
Manager’’) during the year.

Management shares are not redeemable, do not participate in net income or dividends of the Fund and 
are the most subordinate class of share in issue.

9. SHORT TERM LOAN

2017 2016
RS. RS.

Short term loans  122,779 256,782

Short term loans consist of subscription monies received from potential investors awaiting allotment of 
redeemable ordinary shares. The loans are interest-free ,unsecured and refundable.

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

2017 2016
RS. RS.

Other payables and accrued expenses  1,893,677  1,649,850 
Dividend payable  4,400,523  3,571,141 
Redemption payable  36,915,788  439,675 

AT 30 JUNE  43,209,988  5,660,666 

Redemption payables consist of redeemable ordinary shares for which the distributions to the respective 
investors are still pending as at 30 June 2017.

The carrying amounts of other payable, accrued expenses and dividend payable approximate their fair 
value as these are the short term in nature. These amount as unsecured, repayable on demand and 
interest free.
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11. TAXATION 

Corporate tax
“The Fund is, under current laws and regulations, liable to pay income tax on its net income at the rate 
of 15%.  

The Fund is also subject to the Advance Payment Scheme (“APS”) under Section 50B and 50C of the 
Income Tax Act 1995 whereby it is required to submit an APS statement and pay tax on a quarterly basis 
either based on last year’s taxable income or the actual income for the current quarter.

Corporate Social Responsibility (“”CSR””)
The “CSR” was legislated by Government in July 2009. In terms of the legislation, the Company is required 
to allocate 2% of its chargeable income of the preceding financial year to Government approved CSR 
projects.

For the year ended 30 June 2017, the CSR charges amount to Rs. 40,950 (2016: Rs. 26,783).”

(a) Income tax - Statement of financial position

2017 2016
RS. RS.

At 1 July ,  54,710  (14,343)
Amount paid during the year: 
- APS payments  (230,340)  (150,657)
- Annual tax payment  (156,465)  (99,355)
- CSR  -    (28,471)
Income tax charge  277,784  209,689 
Corporate Social Responsibility charge  77,988  38,492 
Under provision of tax in previous year  101,755  99,355 

AT 30 JUNE  125,432  54,710 

(b) Income tax - Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

2017 2016
RS. RS.

Provision for the year:
- Income tax expenses  277,784  209,689 
- Corporate social responsibility charge  77,988  38,492 

 355,772  248,181 
Under provision of tax in previous year  101,755  99,355 

 457,527  347,536 
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11. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

(c)  Reconciliation of tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the domestic 
tax rate.

A reconciliation of the profit before taxation at the tax rate of 17% (2016: 17%) and the income tax expense 
is shown below:

2017 2016
RS. RS.

Profit/(loss) before tax  80,261,038  (51,380,337)
Corporate tax calculated at the rate of 15% (2016: 15%)  12,039,156  (7,707,051)
Non allowable expenses  1,364,328  9,753,975 
Income not subject to tax  (13,125,700)  (1,837,235)
Corporate social responsibility at the rate of 2% (2016: 2%)  
of its chargeable income of the proceeding financial year  40,950  38,492 
Corporate social responsibility for the current financial year  
at the rate of 2%  37,038  -   
Under provision of tax in previous years  101,755  99,355 
Income tax expense as reported in the statement  
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income  457,527  347,536 

12. REDEEMABLE ORDINARY SHARES

(a)  All issued shares are fully paid and have been admitted to the official listing of the SEM. Reedemable 
ordinary shares carry one vote each. They are entitled to a distribution of income and to payment of 
the net asset value on redemption. Redeemable ordinary shares are issued and redeemed at the 
holders’ option at prices based on the value of the Fund net assets at the time of issue or redemption.

2017 2016
NUMBER OF SHARES 

At July 1  21,092,656  22,711,219 
Issue of shares  1,717,403  783,898 
Redemption of shares  (4,743,209)  (2,402,461)

AT JUNE 30  18,066,850  21,092,656 

(b)  Net assets attributable to a holder of the redeemable ordinary share represent a liability in the 
statement of financial position, carried at the redemption amount that would be payable at the 
reporting date if the holder exercised the right to redeem or put the share back to the Fund.It 
should also be noted that the management share in issue are subordinated to the redeemable 
ordinary shares.The Management shares are not redeemable and do not participate in net income 
or dividends of the Fund.

Net asset value per share was Rs.28.86 at 30 June 2017 (2016: Rs.25.57).
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13. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2017 2016
RS. RS.

Audit fees  292,859  311,879 
Tax filing fees  112,700  54,972 
Bank Charges  71,919  75,190 
Custody Fees  328,028  357,830 
Publication Fees  316,410  418,332 
Annual report  331,334  250,000 
Director fees  363,562  273,700 
Director insurance  113,500  44,833 
Compliance fees  -    57,500 
Licences  244,196  19,500 
Legal and professional fees  -    54,025 
Other expenses  251,105  339,482 

 2,425,613  2,257,243 

14. DIVIDEND 

For the year under review, the Board of the Fund has declared a dividend of Rs 0.68 (2016: Rs 0.40) per 
share on 10th May 2017 with the payment date being on 22 June 2017. 

15. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Fund transacted with the following related parties.  The nature, volume 
of transactions and balances with related parties are as follows: 

NAME OF RELATED PARTY RELATIONSHIP
NATURE OF 

TRANSACTIONS

VOLUME OF 
TRANSACTIONS 

BALANCE AS  
AT 30 JUNE 

2017 2016 2017 2016
RS. RS. RS. RS.

IPRO Fund Management Limited Investment Manager Management Fees* 4,584,275 4,918,172 374,460 373,451 

MITCO Fund Services Limited

CIS administrator, 
transfer agent  
& registrar

Administration  
and transfer  
agency fees 1,469,658 1,574,498 120,044 241,158 

CIEL Corporate Services Ltd Secretary Secretarial fees  287,500 172,411  -    -   
Investment Professionals Ltd Distributor Distribution fees* 2,157,278 2,314,433 176,209 175,740 
Key Management personnel Directors Directors’ fees 363,562  273,700 300,000 273,700 

*  The terms and conditions of the related party transactions are disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.



 64 \ \  ANNUAL REPORT 2017

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(a) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due 
to changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The 
maximum risk resulting from financial instruments equals their fair value.

(i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or 
the fair values of financial instruments. The Fund’s income and operating cash flows are to some extent 
dependent of changes in interest rates. The Fund’s interest bearing assets consists of cash held at bank 
and govenment bonds and other interest bearing instruments classified as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss.

The Fund’s exposure to interest rate risk on its cash at bank are limited since the interest received is 
minimal. As such, no sentivity analysis have been provided for the cash at bank.

The following table analyses the Fund’s interest rate risk exposure. The Fund’s asset are included at fair 
value and categorised by the earlier of contractual maturity dates.

As at 30 June 2017
The Fund was not exposed to interest rate risk as at 30 June 2017 as all its interest-bearing instruments 
were disposed during the year. Refer to note 4 for more details.

As at 30 June 2016

AFTER MORE 
THAN 5 YEARS TOTAL

RS. RS.

Fixed interest rate
- Unquoted government bonds  30,723,135  30,723,135 
Variable interest rate
- Quoted bonds and unquoted other interest bearing instruments  20,777,126  20,777,126 

 51,500,261  51,500,261 

Sensitivity analysis
The effect on net assets attribuable to reemable ordinary shareholders on a possible change in interest 
rate is shown below:

EFFECT ON NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
REDEEMABLE ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS

CHANGE IN  
INTEREST RATE

2017 2016
RS. RS.

Variable interest rate +/- 0.5% Nil  10,000 / (10,000) 
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The Fund invests in securities and other investments that are denominated in currencies 
other than the reporting currency of the individual share classes. Accordingly, the value of the Fund’s 
assets may be affected favourably or unfavourably by fluctuations in currency rates. Therefore, the Fund 
will necessarily be subject to foreign exchange risks.

Currency profile 
The Fund has assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies which include USD, EUR and GBP. 
Consequently, the Fund is exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of the Rs. relative to these foreign 
currencies may change in a manner, which has a material effect on the reported values of the Fund’s 
assets and liabilities which are denominated in these currencies.

The currency profile of the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities is set out below:

FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

2017 2017 2016 2016
RS. RS. RS. RS.

Mauritan Rupees (Rs.)  378,190,966  564,750,463  369,388,593  545,303,640 
United States Dollars (USD)  186,348,715  -    175,410,529  -   
Euro (EUR)  253,727  -    332,551  -   
Great Britain Pounds (GBP)  -    -    121,094  -   

564,793,408 564,750,463  545,252,767  545,303,640 

Prepayments of Rs. 82,587 (2016: Rs. 105,583) and tax liability of Rs. 125,432 (2016: Rs 54,710) have 
been respectively excluded in the financial assets.

The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against 
the MUR on an increase or decrease in net assets attributable to shareholders with all other variables 
held constant.

EFFECT ON NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
REDEEMABLE ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS

CURRENCY CHANGE IN 
CURRENCY RATE

2017 2016
RS. RS.

US Dollar (USD) +/- 5%  9,317,436  8,770,526 
Euro (EUR) +/- 5%  12,686  16,628 
UK Pound (GBP) +/- 5%  -    6,055
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Price risk
Price risk is the risk of unfavourable changes in the fair values of securities as the result of changes in the 
levels of security indices and the value of individual securities.

The Fund is exposed to equity securities price risk as the Fund holds investments in quoted and unquoted  
investments classified in the statement of financial position as financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss. The Fund is exposed to fluctuations in the prices of its underlying investments, namely equities, 
bonds and other alternative investments.

An estimate of the effect on the increase or decrease in net assets attributable to redeemable preference 
shareholders for the period due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices, with all other variables 
held constant is indicated in the table below. In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the 
sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be material. An equivalent decrease in each of the 
indices shown below would have resulted in an equivalent, but opposite, impact.

EFFECT ON NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO 
REDEEMABLE ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS

2017 2016
RS. RS.

Change in securities value
+/- 5%  +/- 24,809,110  +/- 26,822,248 

Concentration of price risk 
The following table analyses the Fund’s concentration of price risk in the Fund’s portfolio by geographical 
distribution (based on counterparties’ place of primary listing or, if not listed, place of domicile).

% OF SECURITIES 2017 2016

Quoted Mauritian Equities 65% 58%
Local fixed Income  -   10%
Managed Funds 18% 18%
African Fixed Income 17% 14%

TOTAL 100% 100%

All the investments held by the Fund are domiciled in Mauritius.
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Price risk (continued)
The following table analyses the Fund’s concentration of price risk in the Fund’s portfolio by industrial 
distribution:

2017 2016

Banks & Insurance and other finance 49% 35%
Investments 17% 14%
Sugar & Agriculture  -   1%
Consumer Goods  -   2%
Leisure & Hotels 8% 6%
Industry 21% 11%
Telecommunications  -   4%
Mining and Basic Resources  -   2%
Energy, Oil and Gas  -   1%
Fixed Income 5% 24%

TOTAL 100% 100%

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Exposure to liquidity 
risk arises because of the possibility that the Fund could be required to pay its liabilities or redeem its 
shares earlier than expected. The Fund is exposed to cash redemptions of its redeemable shares on a 
regular basis. Shares are redeemable based on dealing cycles of the different share class.

Maintaining the overall ability to close out market positions in light of illiquid nature of  some of the Fund’s 
investments and keeping sufficient cash balance levels form part of the consideration given towards 
liquidity risk management.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities based on 
contractual undiscounted receipts and payments:

AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

ON DEMAND
“1 TO 6 

MONTHS”
“6 TO 12 

MONTHS”
“1 TO 5 
YEARS”

AFTER MORE 
THAN 5 YEARS TOTAL

RS. RS. RS. RS. RS. RS.

Financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss 496,182,199  -    -    -    -   496,182,199 
Accounts receivable  - 1,241,128  -    -    -    1,241,128 

Cash and cash equivalents  67,369,981  -    67,369,981 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 
(undiscounted) 563,552,180 1,241,128  -    -    -   564,793,308 
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Prepayments of Rs. 82,587 (2016:Rs. 105,583) have been excluded in the financial assets.

AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

ON DEMAND
“1 TO 6 

MONTHS”
“6 TO 12 

MONTHS”
“1 TO 5 
YEARS”

AFTER MORE 
THAN 5 YEARS TOTAL

RS. RS. RS. RS. RS. RS.

Short term loans  122,779  -    -    -    -    122,779 
Accounts payable  43,209,988  -    -    -    -    43,209,988 
Net assets attributable to holders  
of redeemable ordinary shares 521,417,696  -    -    -    -    521,417,696 

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 564,750,463  -    -    -    -   564,750,463 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2016

ON DEMAND
“1 TO 6

MONTHS”
“6 TO 12

MONTHS”
“1 TO 5
YEARS”

AFTER MORE 
THAN 5 YEARS TOTAL

RS. RS. RS. RS. RS. RS.

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss  536,444,958  -    -    -    -   536,444,958 
Accounts receivable  -   1,147,217  -    -    -    1,147,217 
Cash and cash equivalents  7,766,175  -    -    -    -    7,766,175 

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 
(undiscounted)  544,211,133 1,147,217  -    -    -   545,358,350 

Short term loans  256,782  -    -    -    -    256,782 
Accounts payable  5,660,666  -    -    -    -    5,660,666 
Net assets attributable to holders  
of redeemable ordinary shares  539,386,192  -    -    -    -   539,386,192 

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  545,046,858  -    -    -    -   545,303,640 

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the Fund 
by failing to discharge an obligation. The Fund is exposed to the risk of credit-related losses that can 
occur as a result of a counterparty or issuer being unable or unwilling to honour its contractual obligations. 
These credit exposures exist within financing relationships, derivatives and other transactions.

The carrying value of investments in listed and unquoted equities, bonds and other interest bearing 
investments, accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents, as disclosed in the statement of financial 
position represents the maximum credit exposure, hence, no separate disclosure is provided. To manage 
the credit risk, the Fund invests primarily in secured government bonds and reputable non-bank financial 
institution. The table disclosed in note 16(b) shows the Fund’s credit risk exposure on its financial assets. 
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16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

There is no collateral held in respect of accounts receivable.

Credit quality of debt instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss

The following table analyses the fund’s Portfolio of debt securities by rating agency category.

2017 2016

CREDIT RATING % OF DEBT 
SECURITIES

% OF DEBT 
SECURITIES

Baa1  -   60%
Baa3  -    -   
Unrated  -   40%

 -   100%

Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk
The following table analyses the concentration of credit risk in the Fund’s debt portfolio by geographical 
distribution (based on counterparties’ country of domicile):

2017 2016
% OF DEBT 

SECURITIES
% OF DEBT 

SECURITIES

Mauritius  -   100%

The following table analyses the concentration of credit risk in the Fund’s debt portfolio by industrial 
distribution.

2017 2016
% OF DEBT 

SECURITIES
% OF DEBT 

SECURITIES

Government bonds - 60%
Non-bank financial institution - 40%

TOTAL - 100%

The Fund has disposed all its interest bearing instruments during the year and as such, is not exposed to 
credit risk on these class of instruments as at 30 June 2017. The credit risk associated with cash at bank 
and quoted equities classified under fair value through profit and loss are minimal as these are held with 
a reputable financial institution.

None of the Fund’s financial assets were considered to be past due or impaired at 30 June 2017 and 30 
June 2016. 
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17. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The capital of the Fund is represented by the net assets attributable to holders of redeemable shares.  The 
amount of net asset attributable to holders of redeemable shares can change significantly as the Fund is 
subject to subscriptions and redemptions over and above mark-to-market implications of held-for-trading 
investments. The Fund’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Fund’s ability to continue 
as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to 
maintain a strong capital base to support the development of the investment activities of the Fund.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the following are monitored
–  the level of subscriptions and redemptions.
–  redemption and issuance of new shares in accordance with the constitutional documents of the Fund, 

which include the ability to restrict redemptions and require certain minimum subscription amount.

The Board of Directors and Investment Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable shareholders.

18. AGREEMENTS

(i) Investment Management Agreement
The Fund has entered into an Investment Management Agreement dated 11 November 2009 and 
amended on the 01 July 2010 with IPRO Fund Management Ltd (“the Investment Manager”), an investment 
management company licensed by the Financial Services Commission under section 14 of the Financial 
Services Act 2007.

In consideration for the services, the Administrator is entitled to receive a management fee of 0.85% of the 
Net Asset Value of the Fund which is payable on a monthly basis in arrears.

During the year, the investment manager received an aggregate of Rs. 4,584,275 (2016: Rs. 4,918,172) 
for the provision of investment management.

(ii) Administration and Transfer Agent Agreement
On 01 June 2006 (amended on 11 November 2009 and ), the Fund has entered into an Administration 
and Transfer Agreement with MITCO Fund Services Ltd  (the “Administrator”), formerly known as Galileo 
Portfolio Services Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Mauritius. Under the agreement, the 
Administrator is to act as administrator, registrar and transfer agent of the fund.

In consideration for the services, the Administrator is entitled to receive an administration fees of 0.15% 
of the Net Asset Value of the Fund which is payable on a monthly basis in arrears.

During the year, the Administrator received an aggregate of Rs. 1,469,658 (2016: Rs. 1,574,498) for the 
provision administration, transfer agency and registry.
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18. AGREEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(iii) Distribution agreement
On 08 December 2006 (amended on 01 May 2014), the Fund entered into a distribution agreement with 
Investment Professionals Ltd (the ‘’Distributor’’), a company incorporated under the laws of Mauritius and 
holding a license under Section 14 of the Financial Services Development Act 2001 to act as Distributor 
of Financial Products.  

The Distributor is entitled to an annual distribution fee equivalent to 0.40% of the Net Asset Value of the 
Fund and is payable on a monthly basis in arrears.

During the year, the distributor received an aggregate of Rs. 2,157,278 (2016: Rs. 2,314,433)

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

There are no commitments or contingencies as at the reporting date (30 June 2016: nil).

20. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There have been no material events after the reporting date which would require disclosure or adjustment 
to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017.
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